IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JUN 28 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL T. RIVERA,

Appellant/Defendant,

VS.

CASE NO. 70,563 Cir, no. 86-11716CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Plaintiff.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Death Penalty Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Honorable John G. Ferris.

H. DOHN WILLIAMS, JR. P.A. 524 South Andrews Avenue Suite 303N Ft. Lauderdale, Fl. 33301 (305) 523-5432

H. Dohn Williams Jr. As Special Public Defender

Gabriele Sturgis Paralegal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Michael T. Rivera, was convicted of the first degree murder of Staci Lynn Jazvac. (Vol. 12, p. 2164, 2285). The jury, by a unanimous vote, recommended the death penalty. (Vol. 12, p. 2307) The trial court, finding four statutory aggravating circumstances, one statutory mitigating circumstance, and no non-statutory mitigating circumstances, sentenced Rivera to death. (Vol. 12, p. 2309-2313) Rivera's motion for new trial and/or judgment of acquittal was denied. (Vol. 12, p. 2297-2299) Rivera's trial counsel, special public defender Edward W. Malavenda, filed a timely notice of appeal. Malavenda withdrew as counsel and the undersigned was appointed Rivera's special public defender for purposes of this appeal. (Vol. 12, p. 2319, 2314, 2320)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Re: Motion to Suppress Statements and Physical Evidence

Rivera's motion to suppress statements and physical evidence was denied by the trial court. (Vol. 12, p. 2222-2230)

Late in the afternoon of January 30, 1986, Staci Jazvac rode her bicycle to a nearby shopping center to buy school supplies. When she did not return, her mother began searching. She came into contact with a Broward County Sheriff's Deputy who had found Jazvac's bicycle abandoned in a field next to the shopping center. A police search was begun. Detective Amabile of the Broward County Sheriff's Office was involved in the investigation

of Jazvac's disappearance from its inception. A number of suspects were questioned before Amabile came into contact with Rivera.

Star Peck telephoned the Broward County Sheriff's Office stating that she had received an unanimous call from a male who identified himself as "Tony". "Tony" told her that he had abducted and accidentally killed Jazvac. (Vol. 1, p. 5) Peck said that the caller had previously worked for her along with another individual, Casey McAshen. Amabile located a police report involving Casey McAshen which contained the name of Michael Rivera. Amabile ran a records check on Rivera and ascertained he had outstanding arrest warrants and criminal cases that were pending. Amabile did not ascertain that the public defender was representing Rivera on these cases. (Vol. 1, p. 34)

On February 12th, Amabile and Detective Scheff went to Rivera's residence, but he was not at home. (Vol. 1, p. 7) On February 13th, Amabile and Scheff returned to Rivera's residence. Scheff saw Rivera inside the house. Amabile and Scheff knocked on the door several times and yelled to Rivera. (Vol. 1, p. 34) Amabile and Scheff called for marked patrol units from the City of North Lauderdale Police Department. (Vol. 1, p. 35) After an hour, Amabile and Scheff coaxed Rivera out of the house. (Vol. 1, p. 35)

Detective Scheff went to Rivera's residence for the purpose of arresting him on the outstanding warrants, and to question him about Jazvac's disappearance. (Vol. 1, p. 55) After Rivera was coaxed out of the house, Scheff advised him of the

outstanding warrants and placed him under arrest. (Vol. 1, p. 57) He was not given his Miranda warnings. Nor, was he told that they wanted to talk with him about Jazvac's disappearance. (Vol. 1, p. 57-58) Rivera was merely told that they wanted to talk to him at the Sheriff's Office. (Vol. 1, p. 58) Scheff did not elaborate on the subject matter. Rivera made the remark, "If I speak to you, I'll spend the next twenty years in jail." Scheff did not question him on what he meant by that remark. (Vol. 1., p. 61)

At the Sheriff's Office, Scheff orally advised Rivera of his Miranda warnings. (Vol. 1, p. 7) Rivera was not asked to sign the standard written waiver of Miranda warnings form. (Vol. 1, p. 37) Rivera was questioned about Star Peck and Staci Jazvac. (Vol. 1, p. 61) Rivera admitted calling Peck, but said his statements were pure fantasy. (Vol. 1, p. 9) After an hour of questioning, Rivera was turned over to Detective Eastwood, the chief polygraph examiner for the Broward County Sheriff's Office. Amabile and Scheff told Eastwood that Rivera had admitted making an obscene telephone call to Peck during which he stated that he abducted, molested and killed Jazvac. (Vol. 1, p. 71)
Eastwood explained the standard written consent form concerning the taking of a polygraph examination. Rivera signed the form. (Vol. 1, p. 71-72)

Rivera told Eastwood that he had nothing to do with the disappearance of Jazvac. Eastwood asked Rivera for his version of the telephone call to Peck. Rivera related his version to Eastwood. Eastwood conducted a polygraph examination. (Vol. 1, p. 72-73) Eastwood advised Rivera that the examination revealed

deception and asked for an explanation. Rivera admitted exposing himself to a young girl in the Coral Springs/Coconut Creek area. (vol. 1, p. 73) After two and one half hours of testing and questioning, Rivera admitting having access to a van on Monday and Friday which he used to expose himself to young girls. Rivera admitted exposing himself to a young girl who was pushing a bicycle. Rivera said that he often dreamed about exposing himself to young girls and forcing them to have sex with him. Eastwood asked Rivera when the last time he had such a dream. Rivera replied, "Two weeks ago when I had the van and I was in the Coral Springs." Eastwood aware the scenario was similar to Jazvac's disappearance, advised Rivera of his Miranda warnings. (Vol. 1, p. 75-76) Eastwood told Rivera that he was not under arrest, when in fact he was under arrest. (Vol. 1, p. 77)

Eastwood told Rivera that the situation he described was similar to Jazvac's disappearance. Rivera replied, "Tom, I've got to tell you this. It's bothering me. I was in Coral Springs. I grabbed a young girl. I pulled her into some bushes. I didn't do anything to her. I didn't hurt her. Someone was coming and I was scared off." (Vol. 1, p. 79) Rivera went on to say that he felt so badly about what had happened that he telephoned a woman who lived in the apartment complex where the incident happened. Rivera said that he got the woman's name and telephone off the bulletin board at the apartment complex. (Vol. 1, p. 79) Rivera said that he had the telephone number in a telephone book at his house.

Crying, Rivera said, "Tom, you have got to stop me. I

can't control myself. Put me in jail or kill me. I can't stop doing what I'm doing. I keep on doing these terrible things. I can't tell you. You will put me in jail. If you put in jail, they will kill me." (Vol. 1, p. 79-80)

Eastwood informed Amabile and Scheff that Rivera had made admissions concerning a young girl in Coral Springs. (Vol. 1, p. 12) Rivera told Amabile and Eastwood about an incident that occurred in July at an apartment complex on Sample Road in Coral Springs. Rivera said he had gone to the complex for the purpose of exposing himself to women. He admitted grabbing a young girl from behind, dragging her in the bushes and chocking her. (Vol. 1, p. 13) Rivera was turned over to Eastwood for further testing. He remained with Eastwood another two hours. (Vol. 1, p. 15)

Amabile and Scheff contacted Detective Asher of the Coral Springs Police. Asher came to the Broward County Sheriff's Office to question Rivera. Asher orally advised him of his Miranda warnings. Rivera admitted the incident in Coral Springs involving Jennifer Goetz. (Vol. 1, p. 16) Rivera was questioned about Jazvac's disappearance, but denied any involvement. He admitted making the call to Peck, and other obscene telephone calls to a Bobby Rubino's restaurant. (Vol. 1, p. 17)

Rivera agreed to allow the detectives to search his residence. Rivera signed a consent to search form. Detectives Hutchinson and Edwards searched Rivera's residence. (Vol. 1, p. 17, 65)

After 12 to 14 hours of polygraph examination and questioning, Rivera was charged with the Jennifer Goetz incident.

He was transported to the jail for booking.

The next morning, the body of Jazvac was discovered in a field in Coral Springs. (Vol. 1, p. 18) At 3:00 p.m. Amabile and Eastwood removed Rivera from the jail and took him to the Sheriff's Office. Rivera was orally advised of his Miranda warnings. (Vol. 1, p. 18-21) Amabile told Rivera that Jazvac's body had been found. He showed Rivera pictures of the body. Rivera became upset and said that he did not want to look at the pictures. Amabile left the interview room to consult with Sgt. Carney. Sgt. Carney told Rivera that tests would be run on Jazvac's body, and if a fingerprint was found, it would mean that he was there. Rivera replied, "I bet you do have fingerprints." Rivera did not want to know if the fingerprints matched his. Rivera said that he did not know Jazvac. Rivera was shown another photograph of Jazvac. Rivera replied that he did not know her and had never met her. (Vol. 1, p. 23)

Rivera was shown the missing person poster with Jazvac's picture, Rivera stated that he might know Jazvac. Rivera told Carney and Amabile that he and a friend, Larry Nelson, talked to a girl that might have been Jazvac at a gas station on 31st Avenue and Commercial Blvd. (Vol. 1, p. 24)

Rivera was kept at the Sheriff's Office through the dinner hour. After dinner, Rivera said that he was with his brother the night Jazvac disappeared. Amabile replied that his brother's work records showed that he was off the night before Jazvac's disappearance. Rivera then stated that he couldn't remember where he was because he had blacked out. He said, "I

don't remember killing Staci." (Vol. 1, p. 26) Amabile questioned him for another hour, but he made no other statements about Jazvac. He was left alone in the interview room for another hour. Unable to get him to confess, Rivera was taken back to the jail. (Vol. 1, p. 27)

On February 15th at 2:00 a.m., Amabile again had contact with Rivera at the jail. In response to a telephone call from Rivera, Amabile and Carney went to the jail. (Vol. 1, p. 27) He told them that he was convinced that he was with his brother the night Jazvac disappeared. (Vol. 1, p. 27) Rivera agreed to be interviewed on Monday. (Vol. 1, p. 28)

At 5:00 p.m. on Monday, Amabile and Scheff took
Rivera from the jail to the Sheriff's Office. He was orally
advised of his Miranda warnings. (Vol. 1, p. 28-29) Rivera said
that he had spoken with his brother who had told him that they
were together the night before Jazvac disappearance and not the
night of the her disappearance. (Vol. 1, p. 29) Four or five
times during the interview, Rivera stated that he had blacked out
from free-basing cocaine and did not remember killing Jazvac.
(Vol. 1, p. 30)

ڪڻو

Lt. McCann came into the interview room and asked Rivera to write an autobiography about himself. He was given a legal pad and pencil. Rivera wrote 15 to 20 pages. He continued his writing till he was transported back to the jail at approximately ll:00 p.m. (Vol. 1, p. 31-32) Rivera gave the autobiography to Lt. McCann. (Vol. 1, p. 47)

Re: "Williams Rule" Evidence

٠.٥

Rivera filed a notice of objection to the use of "Williams Rule" evidence, or evidence of a collateral crime. Rivera objected to the introduction of the evidence concerning the Jennifer Goetz incident. In response to Rivera's objection, a pretrial hearing was held at which Amabile testified. (Vol. 1, p. 39) Both victims were small, petite 11 year old elementary school girls with similar hair coloring, who were alone when abducted. (Vol. 1, p. 100) Goetz was on her way to a bus stop, and Jazvac was on her way to a store. Jazvac was abducted from an open field, and Goetz was abducted from a wooded area. Both abductions occurred within a 3 to 4 mile radius of Rivera's home. Goetz was attacked from behind and she was strangled but survived. (Vol. 1, p. 103-105) Rivera had told Peck that Jazvac had been grabbed from behind and rendered unconscious by ether. Jazvac died from asphyxiation, but it could not be concluded that she was strangled. (Vol. 1, p. 103-104)

Rivera told Amabile that he liked to expose himself to young girls. In doing **so**, he became overwhelmed with the urge to rape and molest them. (Vol. 1, p. 107)

The incidents occurred six months apart. After each incident, a telephone call was made to a stranger wherein a confession was made. Each time the caller identified himself as "Tony". In each call "Tony" indicated that he was wearing pantyhose and/or a leotard. (Vol. 1, p. 109)

Jazvac disappeared at dusk. Goetz was attacked early in the morning. Goetz was attacked while walking a path in a wooded area of her condominium. Jazvac disappeared from an open

field. Goetz was manually strangled, while Rivera's statements to Peck was that he had placed an ether soaked rag over Jazvac's nose and mouth. During the Goetz incident, Rivera's intent was to expose himself to her, but he became overwhelmed with the urge to molest and rape her. When she resisted, he threatened to kill her. (Vol. 1, p. 117) As to Jazvac, he told Peck that she died accidentally after he placed the ether soaked rag over her nose and mouth. (Vol. 1, p. 117)

The trial court ruled that the evidence of the Goetz incident was admissible under the rational of the "Williams Rule" and within the meaning and intent of <u>Florida Statute</u> 90.404(2).

Re: "Reverse Williams Rule" Evidence

The State moved in limine to prevent Rivera from introducing into evidence "reverse" Williams Rule evidence. (Vol. 12, p. 2254) Rivera sought to introduce evidence concerning the disappearance and death of Linda Kaliton. After Rivera was arrested and jailed, Kaliton, a young white female, disappeared while riding her bicycle. Nine days after Jazvac's body was discovered, Kaliton's body was discovered in the same field. Found near her body was the same type of pantyhose packages that were found near Jazvac's body. Like Jazvac, Kaliton had died as a result of asphyxiation/strangulation. (Vol. 1, p. 119) The trial court reserved ruling at the pretrial hearing, and advised Rivera's counsel to proffer the evidence during trial. (Vol. 1, p. 121)

The "reverse Williams Rule" testimony concerning the disappearance and death of Linda Kaliton was proffered on the

defense side of the case. After Rivera was arrested and jailed, Kaliton disappeared while riding her bicycle. Nine days after Jazvac's body was discovered, Kaliton's body was discovered in the same field. Found near her body were the same type of pantyhose packages that were found near Jazvac's body. Like Jazvac, Kaliton died of asphyxiation/strangulation. (Vol. 1, p. 119)

, <u>á</u>

Detective Riley of the Coral Springs Police Department investigated the death of Linda Kaliton. On February 3, 1986, the body of Kaliton was discovered off Riverside Drive just south of Atlantic Boulevard in the same general area were Jazvac's body was found. (Vol. 9, p. 1615) Kaliton disappeared from the area State Road 84 and 117th Avenue, while riding her bicycle. (Vol. 9, p. 1615-1616) Discovered near her body was a pair of pantyhose. (Vol. 9, p. 1616-1617) Kaliton's bicycle was found abandoned and her body was transported to the Coral Springs area near where Jazvac's body was found. The only bodies that had ever been found in this area were Jazvac and Kaliton. (Vol. 9, p. 1628)

Dr. James Ongley, an assistant medical examiner, performed the autopsy on Kaliton. He opined that she died from asphyxiation. (Vol. 9, p. 1634)

Detective Scheff was called by the State in opposition to Rivera's motion. (Vol. 9, p. 1640) Jazvac was an 11 year old with a child-like body, and Kaliton was a 28 year old fully developed woman. (Vol. 9, p. 1640) Jazvac was found with her top pulled up and her pants unzipped while Kaliton was nude.

The medical examiner opined Kaliton had been sexually assaulted. The medical examiner was unable to determine whether Jazvac had been sexually assaulted. The State introduced a crime scene investigator's opinion that Jazvac had been sexually assaulted because of the condition of her underwear. Jazvac's body was found in a ditch near the canal, and Kaliton's body was found floating in the canal. (Vol. 9, p. 1641) There was an initial attempt to dump Kaliton's body at the scene where she was attacked. (Vol. 9, p. 1642) Both Jazvac and Kaliton had blond hair. (Vol. 9, p. 1647) Scheff was able to point out where Kaliton's body was found in the pictures that the State had introduced to show where Jazvac's body was found. (Vol. 9, p. 1650) Kaliton was abducted and killed while Rivera was incarcerated in the Broward County Jail. (Vol. 9p, 1654) The trial court denied Rivera's request that the "reverse" Williams Rule testimony concerning the Kaliton murder be admitted into evidence. (Vol. 9, p. 1664)

Re: Other Pretrial Motions

•.5

Rivera's motions to compel disclosure of mitigating and aggravating circumstances were granted. (Vol. 1, p. 121-122) Rivera's other pretrial motions, including but not limited to the constitutionality of the death penalty, and venue, were denied. (Vol. 12, p. 2165-2211, Vol. 1, 121-125)

Re: Proof of quilt at trial

Jazvac, an 11 year old middle school student, lived with her mother and step-father in the City of Lauderdale Lakes near the intersection U.S. Highway 441 and Oakland Park

Boulevard. (Vol. 4, p. 728-729) Late in the afternoon of January 30, 1986, Jazvac rode her bicycle to a nearby drug store to buy some school supplies. When she did not return, her mother drove the route to the drug store looking for her. (Vol. 4, p. 733-734)

She saw a Broward County Sheriff Deputy driving out of the field near the drug store with a bicycle in the trunk of his patrol car. Jazvac's mother identified the bicycle as belonging to her daughter. (Vol. 4, p. 734-736) A missing child's report was filed. Deputies searched the field were the bicycle was found, a nearby carnival, and the surrounding neighborhood. (Vol. 4, p. 737, 759-774)

4 2

With no clue as to the reason for her disappearance, a massive search effort was begun. The story of Jazvac's disappearance and her picture were broadcast on local television stations. Printed fliers, containing her picture and description, were distributed. (Vol. 4, p. 753-754)

Concerning suspected foul play, Jazvac's mother told the police that a former boyfriend, Daniel Slavik, was the only person who held a grudge against her. She related that she and Slavik had a child born out of wedlock which she put up for adoption. (Vol. 4, p. 748-749)

In response to the media blitz concerning Jazvac's disappearance, Kenneth Payton, who attended the same middle school as Jazvac, came forward with information. He and some friends had discovered Jazvac's bike abandoned in the field. They stole the flashlight off the bike. Later they threw the flashlight in a nearby canal. (Vol. 1, p. 774-783) Broward

County Sheriff diver, Bill Bushong, recovered the flashlight from the canal. (Vol. 4, p. 784-794)

Patsy Henry, a part-time cashier at the drug store, came forward. She had waited on Jazvac the night of her disappearance shortly before 7:00 p.m. (Vol. 4, p. 795-800; Vol. 5, p. 802-808)

On February 14th, Michael McDowell, a lawn supervisor for a pest control company, took a break in an field in the City of Coral Springs near Atlantic Boulevard and Riverside Drive. At about noon, McDowell parked his company truck near a stand of trees adjacent to a canal. As McDowell walked along the canal bank, he smelled a strong odor. He followed the odor into the bushes. There he found Jazvac's body lying in a ditch, face up. Her body was clothed in jeans, a t-shirt, and a blue jacket. The jeans were unzipped, and the t-shirt was pulled up with her lower chest exposed. (Vol. 5, p. 809-811) McDowell made contact with a nearby private security guard and the police were contacted. McDowell had visited this area before and had seen adult magazines and used pantyhose in the vicinity of where the body was discovered. (Vol. 5, p. 816) McDowell described the area as a place were people dump trash. McDowell told the police that on previous visits to the area he had seen two men living in a white Lincoln Continental automobile. (Vol. 5, p. 817-822)

Dr. Ronald Wright, the medical examiner, came to the scene. Wright observed what appeared to be a female body in the state of decomposition. The body was laying on its back and it appeared as if it had been dragged there. The upper part of the

body was decomposed from exposure to sunlight. The lower portion of the body was in tact. (Vol. 5, p. 837-842) Dr. Wright photographed the scene and had the body transported to his office for an autopsy. The cause of death was opined to be asphyxiation by a process of exclusion. Wright could not positively rule out that she had died of nature causes. Dr. Wright was unable to determine whether she had been sexually assaulted. (Vol. 5, p. 856, 874, 882, 887) The unzipping of her pants could have been caused by bloating as a result of her decomposition. (Vol. 5, p. 842)

Before the discovery of the body, Deputy Haarer, a crime scene technician, processed other possible grave sites, but found nothing. On February 14th, he went to the scene where the body was discovered. He photographed the scene. Items within a 100 foot radius of the body were collected. They included pornographic magazines, a sexual ointment called "Maintain", 8 pairs of queen-size pantyhose, 13 pantyhose packages, beer bottles and soda cans.

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