# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL T. RIVERA,	)
Appellant,	
vs.	) $(ACE NO 70 ECC)$
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) CASE NO. 70,563
Appellee.	SID J. WHITE
	) MAY 15 1989
	) MAY 13 1500
	By Deputy Clerk

-

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER Florida Bar No. 339067 Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 837-5062

Counsel cot Appellee

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly allowed the admission of similar fact evidence, as the attack on Jennifer Goetz was relevant to show identity, intent, and absence of mistake or accident. Further, the evidence did not become a feature at trial, and an application of a harmless error analysis would show that any error would not have affected the verdict.

11. There was no error in the exclusion of reverse <u>Williams</u> rule evidence as there were no similarities between the proffered evidence and the instant crime. Since the evidence was not relevant, it was properly excluded. If a harmless error analysis was necessary, no reversible error would be demonstrated.

111. The trial court properly accepted the jury's unanimous recommendation of death. There was substantial competent evidence to support the findings that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel, and committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to find certain nonstatutory mitigating factors.

- 14 -

#### POINT I

THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR CAUSED BY THE ADMISSION OF SIMILAR FACT EVIDENCE

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in admitting similar fact evidence of the attack on Jennifer Goetz. Appellee maintains that the admission of the evidence was proper as it was relevant to establish identity, and intent, and absence of mistake or accident, §90.404(2)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985). Further, the evidence did not become a "feature" of the trial, so no reversible error occurred. <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1984); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960). The trial court instructed the jury on the limited purpose of the <u>Williams'</u> rule evidence (R 1335-1336). After the court's ruling allowing the admission of the evidence relating to the attack on Jennifer Goetz, the court admonished the attorneys not to allow it to become a main feature of the trial (R 118).

This court has recently reaffirmed the rule that the criteria for establishing whether or not collateral crime evidence is admissible is whether or not it is relevant. <u>Bryan v.</u> <u>State</u>, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988). <u>Bryan</u> also notes that <u>Williams</u> established a rule of admissibility and not **a** rule of exclusion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

<u>Id.</u> Of course, a harmless error analysis is also applicable. <u>Id</u>: <u>Randolph v. State</u>.

The evidence regarding Jennifer Goetz was properly admitted to establish identity and intent. Burr v. State, 466 So.2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 1985); Holland v. State, 466 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985). Appellant's theory of defense was that he was not the perpetrator of the charged crime. The evidence was also relevant to show an absence of mistake or accident. §90.404(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1985). The testimony was not admitted to show Appellant's bad character. If evidence is sought to be admitted for "any other purpose" than to show bad character, it is properly admitted. Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1986); Williams v. State; Randolph v. State. The fact that evidence is prejudicial is irrelevant to the question of admissibility. Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685, 694 (Fla. 1972). By definition, all evidence against a defendant is Admissibility is proper prejudicial. even to rebut an anticipated defense. Williams v. State.

At the hearing on the motion to allow admission of <u>Williams</u> rule testimony, the similarities between the attack on Jennifer Goetz and the murder of Staci Jazvac were readily apparent. Both girls were eleven or twelve at the time of the attacks and were born in 1974 (R 729, 1452). Both girls were similar in stature; they were small and petite (R 100). Both girls were thin (R 110). They both were pretty, and had the same hair color. Both girls had small breasts (R 117). There were similarities in the manner of the abductions. Both abductions took place within a three to four mile radius from Appellant's home. Both girls were alone and on their way to a specific location (R 102). Both girls were abducted on a weekday. Staci died from asphyxiation, and if Jennifer had died it would have been by asphyxiation (R 103). Both girls were attacked from behind (R 104-105). Appellant confessed to his jailmates that he had killed both girls with his hands (R 104). He stated he had molested both girls (R 107), and that after he exposed himself to the girls he became overcome with the urge to molest them (R 108-109). After both crimes, phone calls were made by someone identifying himself as Tony, and stating he was wearing pantyhose and a leotard (R 107, 109). Of course, there were also dissimilarities between the two attacks, but the similarities were many and precise.

Moreover, even if the admission of this evidence was error, it would not have affected the verdict, and would necessarily be State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). harmless. In this case, Appellant's worst enemy was himself when it came to avoiding prosecution for this crime. Appellant confessed to the murders to Starr Peck (R 1087-1088), Angela Greene (R 1244), and implicitly to Gail Mastendo (R 1590). Appellant also confessed the crime (or bragged about it, depending on one's to perspective) to Frank Zuccarello (R 1404), William Moyer (R 1474, 1476), and Peter Salerno (R 1576-1578). Appellant asks this court to evaluate the credibility of these witnesses. This is not the task of an appellate court. These statements coupled with the circumstantial evidence against Appellant would have

been sufficient to convict Appellant regardless of the <u>Williams</u> rule testimony.

Therefore, Appellant's conviction must stand as there was no error in the admission of this <u>Williams</u> rule evidence.

#### POINT II

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE EXCLUSION OF ALLEGED "REVERSE WILLIAMS" RULE EVIDENCE

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying his request to admit into evidence alleged "reverse <u>Williams</u> rule" evidence regarding a murder which occurred after Appellant was incarcerated. Appellee asserts that the proferred evidence was not relevant to the instant case, and that even if there were error, it would have been harmless.

As discussed in Point I <u>supra</u>, evidence of a collateral crime is admissible only when it is relevant to the issues at trial. The question in the instant case was whether or not Appellant was responsible for Staci Jazvac's death. The murder of Linda Kalitan was unrelated to Staci's murder; there were few points of similarity and the evidence was properly excluded from consideration by the jury.

The following information was adduced during the defense proffer. Linda Kalitan was twenty-nine years old, was physically well-developed and had two children (R 1619). She had consensual or nonconsensual anal sex prior to being killed (R 1619, 1635, 1637). When Linda was found, she was nude except for a pair of socks (R 1620). Her clothing was found in a canal weighed down by rocks. It appeared from the amount of rocks that the perpetrator had attempted to weigh the body down (R 1620-1621). There were soiled loose pantyhose several hundred yards from Linda's body which had appeared to be there for awhile (R 1623-1624). Police officer Luther Riley's opinion was that the Kalitan murder was unrelated to Staci's murder (R 1626-1627). Medical examiner Dr. Ongley's opinion was also that the two crimes were unrelated (R 1637).

Broward Sheriff's officer Richard Scheff testified that it was common for women to be abducted while walking and bike riding because of their increased vulnerability (R 1644). Thus, the fact that both Staci Jazvac and Linda Kalitan were riding bicycles prior to the attack does not establish a unique point of similarity. Moreover, the fact that the two bodies were found in the same location did not establish a point of similarity since after Staci's body was found the newspaper published a map with a large X indicating where Staci's body was found (R 1656). The article practically gave directions to the canal (R 1657). In Detective Scheff's opinion, the two crimes were unrelated. He outlined how dissimilar the two cases were.

Staci was eleven at the time of her murder, and had a childlike body. Linda was twenty-eight or twenty-nine and was a fully developed, large breasted woman (R 1640). Staci was found with her clothes on; Linda was nude (R 1640-1641). Linda was the subject of sodomy while she was alive. Staci was not the subject of sodomy, although there was possible post mortem sexual molestation (R 1641, 1655). Staci's body was found under a bush in an open field face-up. Linda's body was found facedown in a canal (R 1641). In Linda's case, there was an initial attempt to

- 20 -

dump her body in a canal near State Road 84 near where the clothes and bike were found. The clothes were tied together, and there were rocks in her pants (R 1642). Nothing similar occurred in Staci's case. Staci's bike was found at the place of her abduction, and was not hidden. Linda's bike was well-hidden (R 1642-1643). Staci was abducted in Northern Broward County, and Linda was abducted in Southwest Broward County (R 1643).

These facts do not show the pattern of similarity required to establish relevancy and hence admissibility. See Diaz v. State, 409 So.2d 68 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). As noted in footnote one in the Diaz opinion, any similarities were "both meager and commonplace". The points of similarity were that both victims were female, both were strangled, both were riding bikes prior to their abduction, and their bodies were found in arguably the same locale. Under Diaz, the only Florida law on the subject, this is not enough to establish relevancy and thus the evidence was Appellee would assert that this court should inadmissible. follow the Diaz court in not determining whether the liberal approach of the out of state courts should be adopted, since that question need not be reached because there has been no showing of an abuse of discretion by the trial court in determining there were no distinctive feature common to the two crimes. Id., 409 So,2d at 69.

Further, the exclusion of this evidence would have been harmless error at worst since there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including (but not limited to) his statements

- 21 -

regarding the crime, the evidence linking him to the van, the scene of the crime and motive, and the <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. No reversible error occurred.

# POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED THE DEATH PENALTY ON APPELLANT

#### ARGUMENT

found following The trial court the aggravating circumstances to exist: 1) Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony, or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, 2) the murder was committed while Appellant was engaged in the attempt to commit, or the commission of kidnapping and sexual battery, 3) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel, and 4) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 2309-2311). The trial court found that the statutory mitigating circumstance that Appellant committed the murder while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance was present (R 2311). Upon balancing these factors, the trial court found that the death penalty was the appropriate penalty (R 2309-2313). By a unanimous vote, the jury had recommended to the trial court that the death penalty be imposed (R 2139).

Appellant does not challenge the first two aggravating factors. He challenges only the existence of the aggravating circumstances that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel, and that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Appellee asserts that there was substantial competent evidence from which the trial court

- 23 -

could find the existence of these two factors beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court stated the following in finding the existence of the aggravating circumstance that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel:

The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. Dr. Wright testified that the cause of death was asphyxiation. He testified that there was a bruise on her forehead caused while she was alive. Α witness testified during the trial that you told him she started to scream and resisted you and it got out of hand and you choked her to It has previously death. been held that the fear and emotional strain preceding a victim's death be may considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the capital felony.

#### (R 2310).

Medical examiner Dr. Wright testified that Staci Jazvac had a goose-egg bruise on her forehead which she had received while she was alive (R 850-852). She had a broken fingernail (R 849). Because of decomposition, Dr. Wright was unable to determine if there was injury to Staci's brain, and if she had been sexually assaulted (R 853-854, 856). The cause of Staci's death was asphyxiation (R 869-870). Appellant told Frank Zuccarello that he choked Staci to death when things got out of hand, and that Staci resisted after they got out to the field (R 1404). There was evidence of a sexual assault. These facts are sufficient to sustain a finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

Strangulation as a method of homicide meets the test that a murder be accompanied by additional acts which make the crime pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim. See State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973); Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124, 128 (Fla. 1988). The facts in the instant case are closely related to those in Hildwin. In Hildwin, this court noted that since the evidence showed that the defendant had abducted, raped and slowly killed his victim, h.a.c. had been established. Id. The fact that Staci resisted, was kidnapped and beaten shows that she most certainly suffered fear and emotional strain prior to her death. This supports a finding of h.a.c. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988); Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850, 857 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982). There was no error in the trial court's finding that Staci's murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

In finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, the trial court stated:

The capital felony was а homicide and was committed in cold, calculated, and а premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. There certainly were no pretenses moral or legal of justifications shown by the evidence your and own statements made to the police

- 25 -

officers and cell mates taken collectively show a cold, calculated and premeditated manner of homicide.

#### (R 2311).

Appellant stated to Starr Peck the following regarding Staci's murder: "I had a notion to go out and expose myself. I saw this girl getting off her bike and went up behind her." (R 1087-1088). He described how he used ether and dragged her into the van. He said, "I didn't mean to kill her." (R 1088). Appellant said that Staci was pretty. He dragged her in the van and she was dead, but "[he] put it in her and she bled and then [he] put it in her anyway." He first saw Staci at a small mall (R 1089).

Appellant stated to Detective Scheff that he had been fantasizing recently about raping young girls. He had gone prowling various neighborhoods in Broward County looking for a vulnerable victim. He did this in a van he borrowed from Mark Peters (R 1018). Appellant said that the girl would have to be unconscious, so he would knock them out with ether which he got from Mark Peters (R 1019).

Appellant told Frank Zuccarelli that he chocked Staci to death when things got out of hand. Staci resisted after they got to the field. Appellant said his original intent was to molest Staci (R 1404). He told Frank that he was turned on by young girls. He was just driving around the neighborhood and saw Staci. He said that after he had choked Staci, he dumped her in

- 26 -

a rockpit area which had water near it, two miles from a house in Coral Springs (R 1405, 1412). Appellant's tone of voice was normal when he related this (R 1406). Appellant also told Frank that he tried to kill Jennifer by choking her like he did Staci, but Jennifer was lucky because someone saw him, and scared him away (R 1408).

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